
 ADOPTED 

Page 1 of 5 

 

City of Keene 

New Hampshire 

 

 

HERITAGE COMMISSION 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

Wednesday, September 10, 2025 4:30 PM 2nd Floor Conference Room, 

City Hall 

Members Present: 

Molly Ellis, Chair 

Rose Carey, Vice Chair  

Louise Zerba 

Cauley Powell, Alternate 

 

Members Not Present: 

Kathy Halverson, Alternate 

Jill Bouchillon, Alternate 

Acacia Johnston 

Julie Emineth 

Staff Present: 

Megan Fortson, Planner  

 

 

1) Call to Order – Roll Call 

 

Chair Ellis called the meeting to order at 4:35 PM.  She asked Ms. Powell to be a voting member 

tonight. Roll call was conducted.  

 

2) Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes - July 9, 2025 

 

Ms. Fortson stated that Marilyn Huston is no longer a member and should be removed from the 

members list. 

 

The Heritage Commission members noted the following additional corrections to the July 9th 

meeting minutes: 

 

- Line 316 – “Russell Park” should be “Russell Block.” 

- Line 280 – At the end of the line, “Ms. Zerba” should be “Chair Ellis.” 

 

Ms. Zerba made a motion to approve the meeting minutes of July 9, 2025, as amended.  Ms. 

Powell seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous vote.  

 

3) Italian Neighborhood Project Updates 

 

Ms. Fortson stated that she wants to put a nice ribbon on this project, because they want to be 

able to publicize the website as an accomplishment of the Commission.  She continued that she 

was looking for any updates the Commission members have.  Commission members replied that 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 

September 10, 2025 

Page 2 of 5 

 

they think it is just up to Will Schoefmann, GIS Coordinator, now to finish up the final text 

components and photo captions, and they know he is balancing many other projects.  Ms. 

Fortson asked if the hard drive was purchased.  Ms. Powell replied no, and they were trying to 

figure out how large it needed to be, which she dropped the ball on.  She continued that she will 

make a note to do that.  Discussion ensued.  Ms. Fortson stated that once the Commission 

determines the hard drive size they need, she and Mr. Schoefmann can get that purchased for 

them and do the last few things. 

 

4) Downtown Video Project 

 

Chair Ellis asked the group about the Downtown Video Project.  Ms. Zerba stated that she has 

nothing to report for this month.  Ms. Carey stated that she has a helpful book, which has most of 

the information they need, along with a pamphlet from the Historical Society.  She continued 

that they need to put the information into a narrative instead of a history, which she managed to 

get done for the United Church of Christ at the head of Central Square.  The book has Keene 

maps that will help them, of all the blocks.  Discussion ensued about the block names.   

 

Ms. Powell spoke about work she has been doing for the bank block, and her ideas for a video.  

Discussion continued about the former banks in Keene.  Ms. Carey spoke about her work on the 

church and square, and discussion ensued about Keene’s churches.  Ms. Fortson stated that she 

wonders if they would want to approach this project by category, such as “banks” and 

“churches,” instead of going block by block.  Discussion continued.  Ms. Powell stated that 

regarding what other categories they could look at, some of these big blocks are industry based.  

Commission members talked about grocery stores, hotels, and how Central Square has changed 

over the years.  Ms. Powell spoke about the idea of buildings that have a second life or are 

preserved and repurposed.  Discussion continued about telling the stories of historical businesses, 

such as shoe stores, clothing stores, restaurants, and department stores.  Chair Ellis asked if Ms. 

Zerba could talk about her family’s department store, and Ms. Zerba replied yes.  Discussion 

continued about how there is less documentation on these sorts of things, and they would be 

relying on people’s memories and pictures. 

 

Chair Ellis stated that she and Ms. Powell had been talking before about their story map and the 

original concept of using the website, and this makes her wonder if they could use this project as 

a way to gather more of these reminiscences and photos from people, and make these videos, and 

eventually upload them and incorporate them into the story map.  Discussion ensued about the 

idea.  Ms. Powell spoke about using the crowdsourcing tool they developed with the CLG grant 

to help with this project.  As the Commission discussed the idea, Ms. Carey suggested they think 

about what they learned from doing the Italian Neighborhood Project that might help them with 

this one.  Ms. Powell replied that a question for Mr. Schoefmann might be what it would take to 

repurpose the crowdsourcing tool for this use.  She continued that with the Italian Neighborhood 

Project, people preferred face-to-face conversations instead of online forms.  Others agreed.  Ms. 

Powell continued that this time, they still want people’s stories, but maybe they can be shorter.  

Discussion continued about seeking photos from the Library and the Historical Society, using the 

Keene Sentinel archives, and using Facebook in a more productive way.  Discussion continued 

about downtown and Central Square, whether to have “drugstore/pharmacy” be its own genre, 

along with the courthouse/legal system as well as schools. 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 

September 10, 2025 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Chair Ellis asked if they should, for the time being, just continue their homework as planned.  

Ms. Carey replied yes, and try to develop more human-interest stories that go with this, behind 

the history. She gave examples about Central Square and asked if they want that history.  Ms. 

Powell replied that it would be interesting, but not easy to do – they could have snapshots of 

approximate time periods, like a moment from the 18th century, a moment from the turn of the 

century, a moment from the World War II era, and so on and so forth.  Discussion ensued about 

how there are so many stories and histories, and how much time to allot them, and how to 

choose.  Ms. Zerba stated that she had an idea to take one building and show how it has changed 

over the years, since the inception of Keene. Chair Ellis asked how they would orient the 

different themes for the different time periods. Ms. Powell replied that for something like 

banking, for example, it would be about the changes in the banking industry and how that 

impacted Keene.  Ms. Carey spoke about how the story map/visual will help organize it.  Ms. 

Powell stated that if they are able to do the crowdsourcing, it would be focused on a more 

modern Keene, just because of lifespans. 

 

Ms. Powell asked if the Commission is thinking of all of this as one project, the crowdsourcing 

as well as the downtown videos. She continued that she thinks it should be, but it is a long-term, 

larger scale project.  Discussion ensued.  Ms. Zerba asked if they are thinking of eventually 

putting this on the City’s website.  Ms. Powell replied yes, the Heritage Commission’s webpage.  

Ms. Carey asked if the concept of filming each building and doing a narrative would be the first 

step, and crowdsourcing would be the second step.  Others agreed.  Ms. Powell stated that she 

thinks they could do multiple videos for each building if they chose different time periods.  She 

continued that for example, they could explore when a building was a drug store and when it was 

a clothing store, and search for relevant photos, Sentinel pieces, and personal stories.   

 

Ms. Carey stated that they are still wrapping up the Italian Neighborhood Project.  She continued 

that realistically, they are looking at a year to do a basic structure, and then they could add on.  

They have come up with many ideas, and now they have to get to the point.  Her goal is to get 

the narratives and the basic building done, and get that up on a website if that is possible.  Chair 

Ellis replied that that sounds good.  Ms. Carey stated that she thinks they should try to first 

accomplish their original plan and then do the add-ons.  She does not think the original video 

project is dependent on the add-ons to be wonderful.  Ms. Powell replied that she agrees, and it 

should be an ongoing project.  Ms. Carey added that they also need to consider Mr. 

Schoefmann’s time, or the time of whoever will be loading it.  Others agreed and spoke about 

their interest in helping load things if Mr. Schoefmann showed them how to do it. 

 

Discussion continued about the Commission’s website.  Ms. Powell stated that the story map for 

the Downtown Historic District is not on there.  She continued that if the Commission worked on 

that, it was before she joined.  She asked if there was a walking tour developed.  Ms. Carey 

replied not to her knowledge.  She continued that at one point, she contributed to a display for 

the City Hall lobby.  Discussion continued about walking tours and story maps.  Ms. Powell 

asked if it would be possible to have Mr. Schoefmann consult with the Commission about the 

mapping element, and get his advice on what the Commission should do and how best to 

approach it.  Maybe he could do a training with them on how to input the data.  Ms. Fortson 

replied that she can check in with Mr. Schoefmann and get an idea of how much effort that is. 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 

September 10, 2025 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Ms. Powell asked which buildings would be the priority, were she to go out and film.  Others 

replied that they had agreed to do those around the common first and then head down as far as 

the railroad tracks on either side.  In response to a question about permission to film from 

rooftops, Ms. Fortson replied that that would be a question for private property owners.  She can 

help with access to the City Hall roof.  Discussion ensued about rooftop views.  Ms. Carey noted 

that all of the blocks around the common have been assigned, but they have not finished them all 

and they have work to do on the common.  She asked if they want to make assignments going 

down the street.  Others replied that they can just stick with the common for now.  Ms. Fortson 

stated that she will send a follow-up email next week once she has talked with Mr. Schoefmann. 

 

5) US Sesqui-Centennial Planning and Preparation 

 

Chair Ellis stated that she passed out the event scope that Deputy City Manager Landry wrote up.  

She continued that she does not think the Commission needs to do anything about it; it is just an 

FYI.  If anyone wants to be involved, they are looking to hold a meeting on September 29th.  She 

is now the chair of this group.  

 

6) Annual Report to Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee – Status Update 

 

Chair Ellis stated that this afternoon, she and Ms. Powell worked on the annual report to the PLD 

Committee, and she thinks it is mostly complete.  She continued that they had been told the 

Commission’s report would be on tonight’s PLD Committee agenda, but she did not see it there.  

She checked with the Mayor, who said that tonight’s agenda is packed.  She will email and see if 

their report can go on next month’s PLD Committee agenda. 

 

7) Keene Glass Plaque – Status Update 

 

Chair Ellis stated that she sees that Councilor Haas wrote a letter in support of the Keene Glass 

Plaque, so she does not think the Commission’s letter is needed.  Ms. Zerba stated that she thinks 

someone needs to clarify the wording, which she finds confusing.  Ms. Powell stated that she 

thinks the Commission should still give the Yankee Bottle Club a letter of support.  Ms. Zerba 

agreed.  Discussion ensued about the letter, and Chair Ellis asked if everyone is okay with the 

content.  Others replied yes. 

 

8) Staff Updates 

 

Ms. Fortson stated that Evan Clements is working with the Historic District Commission to try 

and create an elective architecture class for Keene State College students.  She continued that 

they are trying to find homeowners who live in historic homes who would be willing to have 

KSC students come into their home, do an evaluation, take measurements, and so on and so 

forth.  They are still figuring out the details with the KSC professor.  Ms. Carey replied that she 

would be happy to be involved.  Ms. Fortson replied that she will let Mr. Clements know.  

Discussion ensued about other owners of historical homes who might be interested. 

 



HC Meeting Minutes  ADOPTED 

September 10, 2025 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Ms. Fortson stated that Chuck Redfern, member of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Path Advisory 

Committee (BPPAC) and Energy and Climate Committee (ECC) was hoping to get a letter of 

support from the Commission in support of the Prowse Bridge project, to keep the proposed 

scope of work the same.  The letter would go to the Governor and Executive Council.  She thinks 

the Commission wrote a letter in 2021, and Mr. Redfern was hoping they would write one 

similar to that. She can share a copy of that previous letter with the Commission for their 

reference.  Discussion ensued. 

 

Ms. Zerba made a motion for the Heritage Commission to authorize Chair Ellis to write and send 

a letter to the Governor and Executive Council in support of the Prowse Bridge project. Chair 

Ellis seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous vote. 

 

Discussion continued about the Prowse Bridge. 

 

9) New Business  

 

Chair Ellis asked if there was any new business.  Ms. Zerba stated that she had an item for “Old 

Business.”  She asked Ms. Fortson about a project to add something to the Colony Mill 

smokestack, to the interior so nothing shows.  Ms. Fortson replied yes, the Commission had two 

Section 106 reviews that were going to be done last month.  She continued that the deadline for 

comments was within 30 days, and that deadline had passed.  She tried emailing the contact 

person, but has not heard back from her.  Ms. Fortson thanked Ms. Zerba for bringing this up. 

 

Ms. Powell asked if there have been any demolitions lately. Others replied no, and the 

Commission would have heard if there were. 

 

10) Next Meeting – October 8, 2025 

11) Adjournment 

 

There being no further business, Chair Ellis adjourned the meeting at 5:27 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted by, 

Britta Reida, Minute Taker 

 

Reviewed and edited by, 

Megan Fortson, Planner 


